FILE COPY

DO N EMOVE

MAY 2 | 2020

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF

#### **WEST VIRGINIA**

Gary Lee Rollins,

Petitioner Below, Petitioner,

No. 20-0149

Donnie Ames, Superintendent, Mount Olive Correctional Complex, Respondent Below, Respondent.

> Appeal from a final order of the Circuit Court of Nicholas County, West Virginia Case No.: 15-C-29

### PETITIONER'S APPEAL BRIEF

Attorney for Petitioner
Kevin W. Hughart (WVBID #8142)
M. Tyler Mason (WVBID #12775)
HUGHART LAW OFFICE
Post Office Box 13365
Sissonville, West Virginia 25360
Telephone: 304-984-0100
hughartlawoffice@yahoo.com

#

#### ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

ERROR #1: The circuit court committed reversible error when it failed to grant the relief requested in the Petitioner's Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus based on the errors raised concerning the State's use of perjured testimony, prosecutorial misconduct, and prejudicial, false statements made to the jury with respect to an undisclosed immunity/plea deal between the state and its star witness in the Petitioner's original trial.

Error #2: The circuit court erred when it denied the Petitioner relief based on newly discovered evidence that one of the jurors on the case was the great uncle of the State's star witness, April Bailes.

Error #3: The circuit court erred in finding that the Petitioner did not receive ineffective assistance of trial or appellate counsel.

# KIND OF PROCEEDING AND THE NATURE OF

### THE RULING IN THE CIRCUIT COURT

This is an appeal from the Circuit Court of Nicholas County, Judge

James Rowe presiding. The Petitioner filed his Petition for Habeas Corpus in
the Circuit Court of Nicholas County, Case Number 15-C-29. The circuit court
denied the Petitioner relief via order entered January 21, 2020.

The Petitioner seeks relief in the form of a reversal of the final Order of the Circuit Court of Nicholas County. Said Order denied any and all relief prayed for in the Petition for Habeas Corpus.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### CRIMINAL CASE AND APPEAL.

This case originates from Nicholas County Case Number 11-F-81. In that case, the Petitioner was convicted by a jury of First-Degree Murder, and sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of parole. *Appendix Record*  (hereafter R.) at 2303. This Honorable Court has dealt with the underlying facts of the criminal case on the Petitioner's direct appeal. See *State v. Rollins*, 233 W. Va. 715, 760 S.E.2d 529 (2014), Per Curium. Since that time the Petitioner has uncovered newly discovered evidence which attacks the credibility of the underlying trial.

Because this Honorable Court has already appraised the underlying criminal investigation and multiple summaries of the facts are littered throughout the appendix, the Petitioner will greatly abridge them here, with emphasis on the errors before the Court.

The Petitioner, Gary Rollins, and his wife, Terassa Rollins, operated a small vegetable farm in Nettie West Virginia. *Rollins* at 722. They worked the farm with a small crew of workers. *Id.* On October 5, 2009, Mr. Rollins spent the morning working the vegetable field with three hired workers: Tanya Wagner, April Bailes, and Kay Rudd. *Id.*<sup>1</sup> Just after Mr. Rollins and the workers had broken for lunch, Mr. Rollins went looking for his wife, whom he had not seen since early that morning, when she had told Mr. Rollins that she was going out to put up Halloween decorations. *Id.* After a short look around, Mr. Rollins found the body of his wife in a small pond on their property pinned beneath a large, fallen tree. *Id.* Apparently, the tree had fallen on Mrs. Rollins while she was out walking that morning. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> At different times in the record, April Bailes is also referred to as April O'Brien and April Bailes O'Brien, as her name changed with her marital status over the years. For the sake of simplicity, this brief will refer to her as April Bailes, unless an adequate description of the facts necessitates otherwise.

Not yet sure if his wife was dead, he rushed to the pond to try and free her from beneath the tree. *Id.* When it would not budge, he ran back to the lunch area where three workers were still eating lunch, and he shouted for someone to call an ambulance. *Id.* Ms. Bailes retrieved her cell phone from her car to call an ambulance. *Id.* Meanwhile Mr. Rollins jumped into his tractor, which he was able to use to push the tree off her body. *Id.* He and Ms. Wagner pulled Ms. Rollins' dead body from the pond, and Ms. Wagner unsuccessfully performed CPR. *Id.* 

Emergency personnel arrived and pronounced Ms. Rollins dead at the scene. *Id.* at 722-723. Nicholas County Sherriff's Deputy, David Sales also arrived and took statements from witnesses. *Id.* 

Early in the investigation, Deputy Sales was informed that Mr. Rollins had been having an affair with his employee, April Bailes. *Id.* Two days after his wife's death, Mr. Rollins voluntarily came into the Sherriff's office and gave a recorded interview, where he denied any wrongdoing in his wife's death and stated he believed it to be an accident, where the tree likely fell on her when she was by the pond feeding the fish or squirrels. *Id.* at 723-724

#### Thereafter:

Following the investigation by Deputy Sales, the doctor who performed the autopsy on Ms. Rollins, Dr. Sabet, concluded that Ms. Rollins's death was an accident and the result of "drowning complicated compression asphyxia." The Chief Medical Examiner, Dr. James Kaplan, upon reviewing Dr. Sabet's findings, agreed with this conclusion. An amended death certificate was issued on October 20, 2009, reflecting the manner of death—"accident"—and cause of death—"drowning complicated compression asphyxia." The State Medical Examiner's Office issued an autopsy report containing the same findings as the amended death certificate on January 10, 2010.

State v. Rollins, 233 W. Va. 715, 724, 760 S.E.2d 529, 538 (2014).

Even though the investigation had been closed and the death had been ruled an accident, Mrs. Rollins's family was unsatisfied. The family contacted then-Governor Joe Manchin, a demanded that he order the investigation be reopened. *Id.* at 724. Governor Manchin obliged, and then contacted the West Virginia State Police and instructed them to conduct their own investigation.

The State Police picked through the Sherriff Department's investigation and found some incongruities in the reports from the frantic scene where Mrs. Rollins's body was found. When the State Police conducted later interviews with witnesses, they did not recall Mr. Rollins as being wet above his knees when he came back from discovering his wife's body to get his employees to call 911, despite the fact he told the police he had jumped in the water to lifter the tree. *Id.* at 724-725. Ms. Bailes had told the 911 operator that Ms. Bailes was trapped under a tree and not breathing, but the State Troopers did not believe she could have gotten a clear view of the pond from where she was standing when she called. *Id.* There was also evidence Mr. Rollins had taken out some life insurance on his wife a few months before she died. *Id.* 

The State Police then met with Dr. Sabet and Dr. Kaplan on January 14, 2010, with their own interpretations of the facts in an effort to sway the examiners opinions. *Id.* at 725. Drs. Sabet and Kaplan apparently bought the State Troopers' spiel. Despite receiving no new scientific or medical information, they decided to alter their findings and change Mrs. Rollins' death

certificate to say that her cause of death was "asphyxia due to probable strangulation" and the manner of death was "undetermined" and filed it on January 19, 2010, with an amended autopsy report filed on July 19, 2010. Id.

In September 2011, the Petitioner was arrested First Degree Murder or Terrassa Rollins and indicted that month. *Id.*<sup>2</sup> April Bailes was arrested the next month, based on the theory that she helped cover up the crime by knowing about the crime before making the 911 call the day the body was found. *Id.* 

In May 2012, nearly two years after her death, Ms. Rollins's corpse was exhumed. *Id.* at 725-726. Her family had hired celebrity forensic pathologist and noted JFK conspiracy theorist, Cyril Wecht, to give Mrs. Rollins's long-decomposing corpse another autopsy.<sup>3</sup> *Id.* He concluded that her spine had not suffered the damage that would be expected from a large tree falling on her. The Defense was able to get its own pathologist, Dr. Cohen, who examined the body and concluded that found the injuries consistent with being pinned under a falling tree and drowning. *Id.* 

At a pretrial hearing on July 24, 2012, the following exchange was had concerning the State's key witness, April Bailes:

MR. VANBIBBER: Okay. This - For some housekeeping issues, your Honor. Mr. Milam, I believe, has agreed that it will be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Though the Petitioner was not arrested for murder until September 2011, he was incarcerated from July 2010, through the present day. This incarceration stemmed from a probation revocation out of Clay County, where the Petitioner was originally convicted on an "attempt" relating to some alleged marijuana cultivation. R. at 2399-2403.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See *ShapingOpinion.com*, "Dr. Cyril Wecht, Was the JFK Assassination a Conspiracy?" https://shapingopinion.com/dr-cyril-wecht-was-the-jfk-assassination-a-conspiracy-episode/

MR. MILAM:

disclosed to the jury that he does not intend to prosecute April O'Brien.

The more we talked about it, your Honor -- She's charged as accessory after the fact in this for basically her actions calling it into 911, and what I told Mr. VanBibber is at this point -- if what she says is true. I don't believe she committed a crime because I don't believe she willfully did it. I think she was under duress as a result, and that's why she did it, and I have not offered her a plea agreement until this case the evidence comes out in this case, because if there's evidence to the contrary, then I don't believe her def- -- then maybe it is willful on her part, is --Basically, what I'm trying to say, if she testifies as to what she's told us and all the evidence comes out as what she has told us previously, then I do not believe she's committed a crime, and I'll put that in writing to her -- to him as - as being the State's position on that; that there's not a plea agreement at this time, but that is our position as to how we're going to treat her.

R. at 117-118 (Pre-Tr. Hrg. 7/24/12 at 16-17).

The Petitioner's five day trial was held between August 14, 2012, and August 18, 2012. At trial, the State put on three experts in forensic pathology-Drs. Sabet, Kaplan, and Wecht- all of whom testified that Mrs. Rollins's injuries were inconsistent with the theory that she was drowned when the tree fell on top of her. *Rollins* at 726. Defense witness, Dr. Cohen, testified that her injuries were consistent with the theory that she was drowned when the tree fell on top of her. *Id.* 

The State's star witness was April Bailes. Despite the fact she had a pending felony charge for accessory after the fact to murder, she took the stand.4

She testified that she had been having an affair with Mr. Rollins at the time of Mrs. Rollins death. R. at 42 (*Trial Tr., Day* 3, 8/16/2012 at 207). She stated that on the morning Mrs. Rollins body was found, before the body was discovered by the Petitioner, the Petitioner pulled her aside and told her that he had killed Terrassa. She testified the Petitioner told her that:

... he just looked at me like—with this look like he was looking through me, and he just said, "I—I killed Teresa."

And I just looked at him, you know, like "What?"

And he said it again. He said, "I killed Teresa," and he said that I'd be the one to call 911 and tell them about her under the tree, and that if I didn't go along with it, that me and my daughter wouldn't be here.

State v. Rollins, 233 W. Va. 715, 725, 760 S.E.2d 529, 539 (2014).

The prosecutor asked her if, during the police investigation, she told "numerous police officers," on "at least three to four occasions," had she lied about what she knew about Mrs. Rollins's death, to which she admitted "yes." R. at 1049 (*Trial Tr., Day 3, 8/16/2012* at 215). She further testified that she had been promised nothing in return for her testimony, despite the fact that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Even the trial court judge seemed a bit startled upon finding out that Ms. Bailes was about to take the stand while she was still facing a pending felony. R. at 1037-1038 (*Trial Tr., Day 3*, 8/16/2012, 203.8-204.24).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The record refers to statements Ms. Bailes gave to law enforcement where she supports Mr. Rollins innocence on October 5, 2009, October 7, 2009, and January 15, 2010. R. at 1050-1053, 1058-1060 (*Trial Tr., Day 3, 8/16/2012*, 216-219, 224-226.) She further admitted to giving multiple statements to the defense's private investigators, all inculpating Mr. Rollins in his wife's death. *Id.*at 1071-1072 (237-238).

she had been charged as an accessory after the fact to murder. *Id.* at 1049-1051.

On cross examination, Ms. Bailes admitted that she had an ongoing relationship with Mr. Rollins for a significant period of time while he was in jail, awaiting trial and even traveled from Nettie all the way to the Central Regional Jail in Flatwoods to him there forty-three times. R. at 1080-1081 (*Trial Tr., Day 3, 8/16/2012* at 246-247). She testified that she often traveled to the jail with Mr. Rollins's mother. *Id.* at 1082 (248). She even admitted, after having to be refreshed with the jail visitation logs, that she brought her three-year-old daughter along with her to participate in her visits with Mr. Rollins in April 2010, May 2010, and August 2010. *Id.* at 1083-1085 (249-251). She continued her romantic involvement with Mr. Rollins until December of 2010. *Id.* at 1087-1089 (253-254). She accepted phone calls from him four of five times a day, and sent him letters with photographs of her and her baby. *Id.* 

The trial court gave the jury an instruction stating specifically that April Bailes was facing a charge for accessory after the fact, which carried a penalty of five years in prison. R. at 1464 (*Trial Tr., Day 5*, 8/18/2012, 116.10-116.13).

During closing arguments at trial, defense counsel raised the issue that April Bailes was providing favorable testimony in the State's case, so that she would avoid being prosecuted as an accessory after the fact for the murder of Teressa Rollins. R. at 1555-1556 (*Trial Tr., Day 5*, 8/21/2012, 207-208). Defense counsel noted to the jury that April Bailes had given five statements to the police during the pendency of the trial, and that she had never indicated

that to law enforcement that the Petitioner had confessed to her that the Petitioner had killed the victim until the State arrested and charged her as an accessory after the fact in October 2011. *Id.* Defense counsel argued to the jury that April Bailes visited the Petitioner no less that forty three times in jail, which rebutted the State's concocted theory that April Bailes lied on the Petitioner's behalf because she feared the Petitioner would harm her or her child if she were to testify against the Petitioner. *Id.* 

Defense counsel finally argued to the jury that:

And she knew what they wanted her to say because they'd been trying to get her to say it for two years, and they couldn't do it until they put the cuffs on her. She knew what they wanted. In the end, she gave it to them for her freedom.

R. at 1551-1552 (Trial Tr., Day 5, 8/21/2012, 183-184).

Mr. Milam immediately objected to Defense counsel's statement, saying, "[o]bjection. There's no evidence of that in this case, your Honor." The objection was overruled, as the Court stated that the jury would "remember the evidence." *Id*.

During Rebuttal closing arguments, Mr. Milam stated the following to the jury:

Mr. VanBibber wants you to believe that she's getting out of trouble for telling us the truth. Tpr. White, when he interviewed her, told her -- said you can either tell us the truth now or we'll arrest you later, and he made good on that promise, because we knew from the very beginning, from that 911 call, that she could not have had that information. That's what broke this case wide open. Reviewing that tape shows that she could not have that information from the get-go, and we interviewed her again and again and again and gave her every opportunity in the world to help herself, and she didn't, and she got arrested for it, and she's charged with accessory after the fact.

Now, he wants you to believe that she's getting some kind of consideration out of that. You can bet your behind that I'm going to indict her next month.

If she'd told us this from the beginning, two years ago, three years ago now, this case would have been totally different, but she held that information in -- in her pocket for two years, and she didn't [tell] anyone until she was in trouble, and she tried to save her own behind.

Well, it's too late at that point. She's being prosecuted as accessory after the fact in this case.

R. at 155-1556 (Trial Tr., Day 5, 8/21/2012, 207-208) (emphasis added).

The Petitioner was convicted of First-Degree Murder and sentenced to life in prison without mercy, on August 21, 2012. *Rollins* at 726.

Thereafter, attorney Brad Dorsey filed an appeal with the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals. *State v. Rollins*, 233 W. Va. 715, 760 S.E.2d 529 (2014). Said appeal was heard by the West Virginia Supreme Court, and the conviction from the Circuit Court of Nicholas County was affirmed by decision entered June 17, 2014.

In his criminal appeal, the Petitioner raised the ground that the prosecutor made improper comments to the jury (i.e. the statement that he would prosecute April Bailes), which prejudiced the Petitioner with the jury. Rollins, 728. This Honorable Court did not find that argument convincing, and found the issue was invited error on behalf of the defense counsel Wayne VanBibber at trial, as no objection was made by defense counsel contemporaneously with the prosecutor's statement. Id. Since this decision was issued, new evidence of a deal between the State and April Bailes has come to light.

#### II. HABEAS CORPUS.

#### A. The Petition

The Petitioner went on to file a pro se Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the Circuit Court of Nicholas County on March 20, 2015. R. at 2252-2268.

The Circuit Court of Nicholas County then appointed Kevin W. Hughart, Esq., to represent the Petitioner in these Proceedings on March 27, 2015. R. at 1.

The Petitioner, through counsel filed an Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on November 7, 2017. R. at 2269-2300

The Errors Raised in the Petitioner's Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus are as follows:

Ground one: court failed to remove jurors who should have been stricken for cause.

Ground two: forced to use preemptory challenges to remove jurors who should have been stricken for cause.

Ground three: petitioner was denied a fair trial by an impartial jury as secured by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

Ground four: juror misconduct.

Ground five: the circuit court committed error by permitting 404(b) evidence, allowing the state to present cumulative evidence, and gave improper jury instructions.

Ground six: petitioner was denied due process of law as secured by the U.S. Constitution and Article III and XX to the West Virginia Constitution when the elected prosecuting attorney of Nicholas County used improper methods. Calculated to produce a wrongful conviction.

Ground seven: ineffective assistance of counsel.

Ground eight: prosecutor misconduct.

Ground nine: knowing used of perjured testimony and bolstering of witness.

Ground ten: cumulative error doctrine.

R. at 2325.

While this matter was pending before the circuit court, the Petitioner hired a private investigator to search for undiscovered evidence about the trial. During his investigation, he met with Nelson Paul Bailes, who served on the petit jury that convicted and sentenced the Petitioner. R. at 2275-2299. The investigator discovered, through interviews and a public records search, that Nelson Paul Bailes was the great uncle of April Bailes, the State's star witness at trial. R. at 2287-2289.

After an extensive investigation and numerous delays, the Circuit Court held an omnibus hearing lasting two full days on January 17, 2019, and January 30, 2019.6

## B. Omnibus Habeas Hearing January 17, 2019.

### 1. Defense Trial Counsel, Wayne VanBibber and Tim Carrico

During the Omnibus Hearing on January 17, 2019, trial counsel for the Petitioner, Wayne VanBibber testified that he was extremely suspicious that the State had struck a deal with April Bailes, wherein Ms. Bailes would receive favorable treatment if she were to provide useful testimony on the State's behalf. R. at 62-65 (Omnibus Hearing 1640-1643). Mr. VanBibber cited that Ms. Bailes had given statements which did not implicate the Petitioner as having committed any wrongdoing before October 2011; then she was arrested in October 2011 as an "Accessory After the Fact," at which point she changed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> A number of members of April Bailes's family, as well as the Investigator Herbert Gardner,

her story to say that the Petitioner had secretly confessed to her that he had murdered Tarrasa Rollins. *Id.* at 1652-1653 (73.16-74.12).

Mr. VanBibber further testified that he asked Mr. Milam directly whether there had any sort of an agreement entered into between Ms. Bailes and the State, to which Mr. Milam stated there had not been any deal. *Id.* at 1653 (74.7-74.13). Mr. VanBibber stated that Mr. Milam had always represented to him that Mr. Milam intended to prosecute April Bailes. The following exchange was had between Mr. VanBibber and Mr. Hughart regarding Ms. Bailes's changing statements and his preparation for the Petitioner's trial:

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