# GARY LEE ROLLINS,

Petitioner,

v.

DONNIE AMES, Superintendent, Mount Olive Correctional Complex,

Respondent.

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Webster County (Case No. 15-C-29) FILE COPY

SCANNED

**RESPONDENT'S BRIEF** 

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

GORDON L. MOWEN, II ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 812 Quarrier Street, 6th Floor Charleston, WV 25301 Telephone: (304) 558-5830 Email: Gordon.L.Mowen@wvago.gov State Bar No. 12277 Counsel for the Respondent

#

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

While a prosecutor occupies a quasi-judicial role, he or she still has a duty to be an advocate on behalf of the State. *State v. Hamrick*, 216 W. Va. 477, 481, 607 S.E.2d 806, 810 (2004) (citing *State v. Boyd*, 160 W. Va. 234, 233 S.E.2d 710 (1977) (noting that a prosecutor must "vigorously pursue his case")). It should hardly be surprising, then, that effective prosecutors frequently make impassioned closing arguments to the jury. And a prosecutor's closing argument is intended to be—and should be—a persuasive narrative based upon the evidence designed to highlight why the evidence supports a conviction; closing arguments, by design, are intended to point to the evidence and sway the jury towards a certain outcome. *See generally State v. Johnson*, 187 W. Va. 360, 364 n.7, 419 S.E.2d 300, 304 n.7 (1992). It is also proper for a prosecutor to respond to the closing arguments made by the Defense. *Rollins*, 233 W. Va. at 744, 760 S.E.2d at 558 (citing *State v. Mullins*, 171 W.Va. 542, 301 S.E.2d 173 (1982) for the proposition that a "prosecutor's remark to be in direct response to comment made by defense counsel in closing argument ... was not error")).

Here, the prosecutor's statement that he intended to indict Ms. O'Brien-Bailes for her involvement in Ms. Rollins's murder was made to rebut Petitioner's claim that Ms. O'Brien-Bailes was a turncoat, seduced by the State through some form of leniency agreement to lie and claim that Petitioner killed his wife. This was an appropriate argument to make considering this was a heavily contested issue—this Court recognized as much in Petitioner's direct appeal. *Rollins*, 233 W. Va. at 744, 760 S.E.2d at 558 (declining to invoke plain error and observing that "the

prosecutor's remarks were directly and appropriately responsive to defense counsel's closing argument"). Moreover, P.K. Milam, the assistant prosecutor who tried the case, testified at the omnibus hearing that "he had fully intended to indict her following trial but decided, on looking at the issue of accessory after that fact, that he could not do so because of an exception under the law for the master-servant relationship." (A.R. at 2315).

Given these considerations, the habeas court determined that, at the time the statement was made, the State "did intend to seek an indictment." (A.R. at 2310). Consequently, the prosecutor's persuasive closing argument relating to Ms. O'Brien-Bailes's status and his intention to indict her were made in good-faith and accurate at the time they were made. There was no prosecutorial misconduct and Petitioner's claim fails.

# ii. Assuming the comment does constitute misconduct, such misconduct still does not warrant granting habeas corpus relief.

As discussed, above, the prosecutor's discussion of his intention to indict Ms. O'Brien-Bailes was not improper. Assuming, purely for the sake of argument, however, that it was, it still does not constitute reversible error. "A judgment of conviction will not be set aside because of improper remarks made by the prosecuting attorney to a jury which do not clearly prejudice the accused or result in manifest injustice." Syl. Pt. 5, *State v. Sugg*, 193 W. Va. 388, 456 S.E.2d 469 (1995). In order to evaluate whether an improper prosecutorial comment is so damaging as to require reversal, this Court articulated a four factor test in *Sugg*. These factors gauge:

(1) the degree to which the prosecutor's remarks have a tendency to mislead the jury and to prejudice the accused; (2) whether the remarks were isolated or extensive; (3) absent the remarks, the strength of competent proof introduced to establish the guilt of the accused; and (4) whether the comments were deliberately placed before the jury to divert attention to extraneous matters.

Id. at Syl. Pt. 6, 456 S.E.2d 474.

Applying this four factor test to the case at hand, there is little question that the prosecutor's comment does *not* cross the threshold into reversible error. First, it was not misleading. The prosecutor testified, under oath, at Petitioner's omnibus hearing that he had every intention of indicting Ms. O'Brien-Bailes at the time he made the comment. (A.R. at 2315). Moreover, the prosecutor's argument at trial was offered in direct response to Petitioner's counsel's closing argument in which Petitioner insisted Ms. O'Brien-Bailes was acting as a State agent, lying about Petitioner's involvement in his wife's death, and was receiving some sort of benefit from the State in exchange for her testimony. *Rollins*, 233 W. Va. at 744, 760 S.E.2d at 558 ("[T]he prosecutor's remarks were directly and *appropriately* responsive to defense counsel's closing argument") (emphasis added). As outlined in the previous section, the notion that Ms. O'Brien-Bailes had a plea agreement and was acting as an agent for the State because of some sort of favorable arrangement is inaccurate, and the prosecutor's comment that Ms. O'Brien-Bailes would soon be indicted was directly responsive to that accusation. Thus, this factor weighs heavily in favor of the State.

Second, it cannot be disputed that this remark was isolated. It occurred once. (A.R. at 1556). This factor weighs also weighs in favor of finding that the alleged prosecutorial misconduct does not warrant reversal. Third, as outlined above and in this Court's *Rollins* opinion, the evidence at trial implicating Petitioner in his wife's death was substantial, thereby mitigating against any concern that the prosecutor's comment had any tendency to improperly sway the jury to convict. Finally, there is no evidence suggesting that the Prosecutor's comments were "deliberately placed before the jury to divert attention to extraneous matters." In fact, the Prosecutor's single comment was directly responsive to a key issue created by the defense—Ms. O'Brien-Bailes's credibility and bias.

17

For these reasons, Petitioner cannot establish an entitlement to relief under *Sugg* and his claim fails in substance. *See generally Adkins*, 209 W. Va. at 216, 544 S.E.2d at 918 (holding that a prosecutor's "isolated comment" clearly did not mislead the jury or prejudice the accused.).

Finally, the conclusion that the Prosecutor's isolated remark is insufficient to warrant reversal is also confirmed by this Court's discussion of the same issue in Petitioner's direct appeal. There, the Court refused to invoke the plain error doctrine to address that claim, explaining that the prosecutor's remarks "were in direct response to closing arguments made by the petitioner[.]"

Id. at 728, 760 S.E.2d at 542.

#### 2. Petitioner's right to an unbiased jury was not violated.

Petitioner contends that the circuit court should have granted him habeas corpus relief on the basis that Ms. April O'Brien-Bailes's great uncle, Nelson Bailes, was empaneled on the jury, and, therefore, his right to an impartial jury was violated. (Pet'r's Br. at 44).<sup>5</sup> This claim fails

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Petitioner spends a portion of his argument in support of this assignment of error alleging that his trial counsel was ineffective. (Pet'r's Br. at 53-54). A claim that counsel's performance fell below the threshold which the Constitution demands is a patently different claim than Petitioner's assignment of error that a biased juror violated his right to a fair trial. The State shall address the former given that Rule 10 requires a Petitioner to identify his assignment of error and then argue, in a heading below that assignment of error, the reasons why he believes he is entitled to relief upon that claim. W. Va. Rev. R. App. P. 10(c)(7). In other words, Petitioner's interspersed argument that his counsel was ineffective is not the same claim as that presented in the assignment of error.

Even if this Court were to consider the claim couched within such framework, it easily fails. A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is reviewed to determine whether trial counsel's performance was objectively unreasonable and, if so, whether, in the absence of such error, the result of the underlying proceedings would have been different. Syl. Pt. 5, *State v. Miller*, 194 W. Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114 (1995) (adopting *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)). Both April O'Brien-Bailes (the witness) and Nelson Bailes (the juror) testified that they had no idea they were related to one another. (A.R. at 2303). While Petitioner claims that his trial counsel "could have" uncovered this relationship by "notic[ing] the two had the same last name, which "*should have* led to a line of inquiry where the consaguineal connection between [the two] *could have* uncovered," that claim fails because there is no line of inquiry which would have uncovered this—neither individual knew they were related to one another. (A.R. at 2302). Thus, counsel's performance was not objectively unreasonable (no line of questioning would have uncovered this relationship because Nelson Bailes did not know about it in the first instance) and

because Nelson Bailes had no idea that he had any relation to April O'Brien-Bailes, and April O'Brien-Bailes had no idea that she had any relation to Nelson Bailes. (A.R. at 2305). Indeed, it is undisputed that "Nelson Paul Bailes was unaware that the witness, April Bailes a/k/a April O'Brien, was related to him at any point during trial." (A.R. at 2304). The same is also true for April O'Brien-Bailes: "April Bailes testified that she had never met Nelson Paul Bailes prior to the October 2018 hearing in this *habeas* proceeding." (A.R. at 2305). In fact, "[b]ased on the testimony of Nelson Paul Bailes, April Bailes and Cynthia Kesterson,[6] it is clear that the witness, April Bailes, and the juror, Nelson Paul Bailes, had no knowledge of each other as of the time of the trial in the underlying criminal matter." (A.R. at 2305) (emphasis added). Accordingly, there can be no concern that Mr. Bailes was prejudiced against Petitioner or in favor of Ms. Bailes due to a familial relationship (and no concern that Ms. Bailes's testimony was somehow impacted due to the presence of Nelson Bailes on the petit jury). (A.R. at 2302) ("Regarding the juror who was April Bailes' great uncle, clearly he did not know who she was at the time of trial, and she did not know who he was.").

Both the federal and state constitutions guarantee a criminal defendant the right to a fair trial. U.S. Const. Amend. 14; W. Va. Const. Sec. 14, Art III. Implicit in these constitutional provisions is the right to an unbiased jury. *See State v. Sutherland*, 231 W. Va. 410, 416, 745 S.E.2d 448, 454 (2013). The *voir dire* process safeguards these rights—jury selection is designed "to secure jurors who are not only free from prejudice, but who are also free from the suspicion of prejudice." *State v. Beck*, 167 W. Va. 830, 838–39, 286 S.E.2d 234, 240 (1981) (citation omitted). A juror who cannot act as a fair or impartial fact-finder must be excused from service, *see* Syl. Pt.

there was no resulting prejudice (Juror Bailes was not a biased juror because he was unaware of his alleged (and distant) familial relationship with the witness).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Cynthia Kesterson testified at the omnibus hearing, in part, that she was April O'Brien-Bailes's mother and that she did not know Nelson Bailes. (A.R. at 1921).

1, *State v. Newcomb*, 223 W. Va. 843, 679 S.E.2d 675 (2009), and any doubts on whether a juror can be fair and impartial should be resolved "in favor of excusing the juror." Syl. Pt. 2, in part, *State v. Cowley*, 223 W. Va. 183, 672 S.E.2d 319 (2008).

"In determining whether a juror should be excused, our concern is whether the juror holds a particular belief or opinion that prevents or substantially impairs the performance of his or her duties as a juror in accordance with the instructions of the trial court and the jurors' oath." *State v. Miller*, 197 W. Va. 588, 605, 476 S.E.2d 535, 552 (1996) (citing *Wainwright v. Witt*, 469 U.S. 412, 424 (1985)). "A juror is impartial if he or she can lay aside any previously formed impression or opinion of the parties or the merits of the case and can render a verdict based on the evidence presented at trial." *Id.* at 605, 476 S.E.2d at 552 (citing *Irvin v. Dowd*, 366 U.S. 717, 723 (1961)).

Of course, a juror who has actual bias must be excused from service. *State v. Miller*, 197 W. Va. 588, 605, 476 S.E.2d 535, 552 (1996). "Actual bias can be shown either by a juror's own admission or by proof of specific facts which show the juror has such a prejudice or connection with the parties at trial that bias is presumed." *Miller*, 197 W. Va. at 605, 476 S.E.2d at 552. Ordinarily, "[w]hen a prospective juror is closely related by consanguinity to a prosecuting witness or to a witness for the prosecution, who has taken an active part in the prosecution or is particularly interested in the result, he should be excluded upon the motion of the adverse party." Syl. Pt. 2, *State v. Beckett*, 172 W. Va. 817, 819, 310 S.E.2d 883, 885 (1983) (quoting Syl. Pt. 2, *State v. Kilpatrick*, 158 W. Va. 289, 210 S.E.2d 480 (1974)).

West Virginia law plainly prohibits a prospective juror who has a close familial relationship with a State witness from sitting on the petit jury upon motion by the adverse party. *See*, *e.g.*, Syl. Pt. 2, *State v. Beckett*, 172 W. Va. 817, 819, 310 S.E.2d 883, 885 (1983). Implicit in that rule, however, is that the prospective juror is aware of that relationship. This is because the entire purpose of this rule—as Petitioner recognizes—is to prevent that juror from being biased in favor of a family member's testimony. (Pet'r's Br. at 51-52).

Here, Nelson Bailes had no idea that he had any relation to April O'Brien-Bailes. At the omnibus hearing, when asked whether he was related to April O'Brien-Bailes, Nelson Bailes testified:

A: That's what they tell me. Like I told you, I've never met the girl. I did not know she was kin to me or nothing else like that.

(A.R. at 1944). Indeed, Nelson Bailes clearly and unequivocally testified that he did not know that he had any relation to April O'Brien-Bailes at the time of the trial. (A.R. at 1946) ("Q: If someone would have told you, 'Nelson, this is April Bailes. She's your great niece,' would you have known that? A: No, sir.").

For these reasons, there is no concern that Nelson Bailes was a biased juror. In the same vein, April O'Brien-Bailes had no idea she had any relation to Nelson Bailes—she did not know him—and, therefore, there can be no concern that April O'Brien-Bailes's testimony was somehow impacted by Nelson Bailes's presence on the petit jury. Petitioner's claims otherwise fail, which is exactly what the circuit court determined below and precisely why this Court should affirm its ruling here.

# The circuit court correctly concluded that Petitioner's trial and appellate counsel were not ineffective.

Petitioner's third assignment of error is a claim that his trial and appellate counsel were ineffective. (Pet'r's Br. at 56). Despite this, Petitioner argues in his Brief under that heading that the cumulative error of his trial proceedings warrant granting him habeas corpus relief. (Pet'r's Br. at 56). He makes no actual argument in this section that his trial counsel was ineffective and fails to even mention what aspect of appellate counsel's performance he believes was deficient or

prejudiced him in his direct appeal. (See Pet'r's Br. at 55-56). Because Petitioner has failed to advance an argument supporting this assignment of error, his assignment of error fails.

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